Better equipped, better care

Improving mental health training for GPs and practice nurses



Contents

Methodology	3
Recommendations	4
Introduction	6
Why we need to improve primary mental health care	8
How GP practices can support better mental health	8
Putting the person first	11
Treatment choice	13
Experiences from diverse communities	14
Supporting the mental health of primary care staff	16
Time to Change case study	18
Improving mental health training for GP practice staff	19
Existing training requirements	19
Our research	21
Continuing professional development for GPs and practice nurses	23
Conclusion	26
Endnotes	27



Staff across primary care services – General Practitioners (GPs), practice managers and practice nurses, health visitors and, in Wales, Local Primary Mental Health Support Services (LPMHSS) – all provide a vital contribution to supporting people with mental health problems. This report largely focusses on the training needs of GPs and practice nurses in a GP practice setting and the support they receive for their own mental health.

Methodology

In developing this report we have sought the views and experiences of a wide range of people, including people who have received support from GP practices for their mental health as well as the people delivering their care.

Our research for this report has included:

- A literature review
- Stakeholder interviews with experts from across primary care and mental health
- Three focus groups with people with mental health problems
- An online survey of 1,400 people with mental health problems
- Freedom of Information requests to Health Education England and the Welsh Deanery on the number of GP Speciality Trainees undertaking rotations in mental health between 2013-15
- A survey of over 1,000 primary care staff (including GPs, practice nurses and others) to capture their experiences of their own mental health

We have also made use of the extensive engagement exercise undertaken by the Mental Health Taskforce, which involved over 20,000 participants. In identifying our recommendations, the advice and guidance of experts from across the health sector has been invaluable.

Recommendations

Mental health is core business for primary care services. GPs and practice nurses play a vital role in supporting the one in four people who experience a mental health problem in any given year. However, too often GPs and practice nurses have not been given sufficient training and support to enable them to provide the best possible care for people with mental health problems. In order to enable GPs and practice nurses to provide the highest quality mental health care, we recommend:

Improving the mental health of primary care staff

NHS England, Clinical Commissioning Groups in England and Local Health Boards in Wales should ensure that all primary care staff are able to access effective occupational health services and mental health support

NHS England's plan to establish a national service to improve GPs' access to mental health support should be extended to ensure that all primary care staff – including practice managers and receptionists – can also access vital support. Likewise, in Wales, the Government's plan to invest in occupational health support services for GPs should be extended to provide support to all primary care staff.

Improving pre-qualifying training for GPs

Health Education England and the Welsh Deanery should ensure every GP Speciality Trainee is able to undertake a rotation in a mental health setting

Currentlu, the only option for trainee GPs to gain practical experience of mental health services is likely to be hospital based or secondary care focused. While important, this experience won't reflect the kinds of treatment that most people with a mental health problem are likely to need. In order to ensure that every GP Speciality Trainee gains practical experience in a mental health setting, Health Education England and the Welsh Deanery must ensure that trainees are able to undertake a rotation in alternative community based mental health settings – for example Improving Access to Psychological Therapies services (IAPT) as part of their pre-qualification training.

Continuing professional development

The General Medical Council (GMC) should specify a set proportion of annual Continued Professional Development (CPD) credits for GPs to undertake which have a mental health focus

Ensuring that GPs maintain an up-to-date understanding of mental health is vital. Within current continuing professional development programmes, it remains optional. The GMC should take a lead and specify a set proportion of annual CPD credits for GPs to undertake which have a mental health focus and reflect the need to achieve parity of esteem between physical and mental health. At Mind, we would welcome the opportunity to support the development of this recommendation. The Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC) should specify a set number of training hours that practice nurses should spend with a focus on supporting people with mental health problems

Like GPs, practice nurses play an important role in supporting people with mental health problems and should maintain an up-to-date knowledge of mental health. The NMC should take a lead and specify a set number of training hours that practice nurses spend with a focus on supporting people with mental health problems, and reflect the need to achieve parity of esteem between physical and mental health. GP practices should allocate sufficient funding to support protected training time for all staff

All GP practice staff - including practice nurses and non-clinical staff such as practice managers and receptionists - need to be encouraged and supported to develop and learn in their roles so that they have the confidence and competence to support people with mental health problems. This means setting aside sufficient funding for high quality training. It also means budgeting for staff to have protected time away from their daily work pressures to fully engage in learning.

Commissioning services that support mental health knowledge and awareness

NHS England, Clinical Commissioning Groups in England and Local Health Boards in Wales should include requirements for staff training on mental health within commissioning agreements for primary care services

Local commissioners in England and Wales have a responsibility to ensure that the services they commission meet the needs of their communities. When commissioning primary care services this should ensure services support the continued professional development of their workforce, and that all staff receive the appropriate level of training to support people with mental health problems, such as suicide prevention training for frontline staff.

Introduction

One in four¹ people will experience a mental health problem in any given year. While more and more are seeking help for their sumptoms, most don't get any professional help. The vast majority of those who do get treatment are seen within primary care - 81 per cent of people first come into contact with mental health services via their GP, with 90 per cent of people receiving treatment and care for their mental health problem solely in primary care settings². It is estimated that one third of GP appointments involve a mental health component³. Mental health is core business for primary care.

Just as for someone experiencing a physical health problem, a GP or practice nurse should be, and is, the first port of call for someone worried about their mental health. GP practice staff are there to identify the support someone needs, coordinate their care, and help them navigate the complexities of the NHS in a compassionate and considered way. They are also well-placed to keep an eye on the sometimes complex relationship between someone's physical and mental health.

Accessing the right mental health care at the right time is crucial for people with mental health problems. GP practices provide vital support for people seeking help for their mental health, whether it's someone speaking about their mental health for the first time, or someone with a long-term condition. Getting effective mental health support early on via a GP practice can improve a person's recovery and help prevent someone's mental health from getting worse.

My GP practice is amazing. I wouldn't be here now without them.

However, we know that too often people don't receive the level of care they should expect from their GP practice. There are a number of reasons for this. As with many parts of the healthcare system, primary care is under strain from significant NHS reorganisation and the need for the NHS to deliver £22bn of efficiencies by 2020, while its workforce is under pressure to meet the increasing demand on services. There is also a need for greater awareness and understanding of mental health among GP practice staff themselves.

This report's focus is on how we can best equip GP practice staff to provide excellent primary mental health care, but we know this is not the only barrier to improving services.

GP practice staff rely on being able to refer the people they see to other services within primary or secondary care and in the community. However, these services are also stretched, meaning long waiting times or high thresholds for accessing support. Sometimes services may exist but staff are unaware of them.

Primary care services, and GP practices in particular, have a crucial role to play in supporting people with mental health problems. If we get primary mental health care right, its impact for people living with mental health problems can be truly transformative.



Around One in three

GP appointments involves a mental health component⁵.



On average, GPs spend nearly a fifth

of their appointment time on social issues⁶.





only 12 per cent of people

report receiving treatment for a mental health problem¹⁰.

٦

61 million prescriptions

for antidepressants were administered in 2015, an increase of more than 56 per cent since 2012⁷. People with physical long-term conditions are **two to three times more likely** to experience mental health problems⁸.

Å Å Å Å Å Å Å Å ŧtŧtŧt Medically unexplained symptoms account for up to a fifth of GP consultations⁹.



Current challenges facing primary mental health care

How GP practices can support better mental health

For most of us, our local GP practice is the first place we go when we're feeling unwell. We seek advice and answers from our GP or primary care professional for all our health concerns – including any concerns we may have about our mental health. Since 2000, there has been a steady increase in the proportion of adults with mental health problems using community and day care services¹¹. In part this is because of efforts to reduce stigma around mental health and to increase awareness and understanding through programmes such as Time to Change¹². With more people coming forward and seeking help, it is even more important that GP practices are equipped to provide the best possible care and support for people with mental health problems. GP practices provide important support for people needing help for their mental health: from people who have first become worried about their mental health and want to talk through their concerns, to people with longterm or severe mental health problems which need regular management and ongoing support. Anyone with a mental health problem being supported by mental health specialists in the community will also need support from their GP for their physical health needs, and vice versa.





Felicity, 27, is studying for a mental health nursing degree in Plymouth. She said:

"Having a supportive GP who understood mental illness made all the difference. I initially went to my appointment about my ear infection, but because he asked how other things were, I ended up breaking down in tears and explaining that I wasn't in a good place mentally either. He talked me through options, such as talking therapy and antidepressants, if I decided I wanted to go down those paths, and arranged a follow up appointment in two weeks.

"When I went back to the GP after a fortnight, I decided to take citalopram and he signed me off work for a further week, and then another. I ended up leaving my job, moving down to Devon to be near my family. I now have a new job, a new partner, and I'm working towards my dream job of becoming a mental health nurse. A lot of what has happened was down to my GP, who was so much better than I ever could have hoped. I know not all patients are as fortunate which is why I'm supporting Mind's call to improve mental health training for GPs and practice nurses."

Good primary care services recognise the early signs of a mental health problem and provide proactive, timely intervention – whether from GP, practice nurse¹³ or another member of staff – that supports people to stay well in their communities and prevents people from reaching crisis point.

The first GP I saw at this practice brought mental health up with me before I brought it up with her. When she left, that experience made me feel so much more comfortable talking to another doctor about my mental health.

But not everyone feels they are fully listened to when they visit their GP practice. Short and hurried appointments, or a misplaced focus on an existing health condition can exacerbate this and means that there is not enough time to explore someone's mental health concerns. This impacts negatively on the person's ongoing care.



There isn't enough time to properly go into detail when I only have ten minutes to talk about my issues. I get flustered, don't like talking about it, get muddled up and can't express myself properly.



Find the Words

Earlier in 2016, we launched our 'Find the Words' guide, aimed at helping people open up about mental health when talking to their GP.

When experiencing the symptoms of mental health problems, our local GP is the first place we'll go. However, it's not always easy having that first conversation about your deepest feelings with your GP, someone you may hardly know. The <u>'Find the</u> <u>Words' guide</u> is there to help you make the most of those few minutes that you have with your GP.

mind.org.uk/findthewords

Putting the person first

Even though an estimated one in three GP appointments will involve mental health, too often it remains unspoken. Because of stigma and their own lack of understanding around mental health, people can find it harder to discuss their emotional health with their GP than they do a physical health concern.

Even making an appointment to see a GP or practice nurse can be challenging, with a recent survey of 2,000 people by Cancer Research UK identifying having to talk through symptoms with reception staff as a key barrier to seeking support. The survey also found that 35 per cent of people considered "not wanting to make a fuss" as something that would put them off making an appointment¹⁴.

On average, GP appointment times are nine minutes¹⁵. Even if a GP or practice nurse suspect someone might be struggling with their mental health, they will need to build a positive rapport with that person before being able to begin to explore their mental health. Within the limited time frame of a typical appointment, this can mean mental health is left unaddressed or further appointments are required before it is discussed, further delaying diagnosis and treatment.

It can also be difficult for GP practice staff to disentangle and identify mental health problems within a short appointment time. On average GPs spend nearly a fifth of their appointment time on social issues such as housing and debt¹⁶. These issues can often be closely linked to the mental health of an individual. Again, this may lead to people attending GP appointments on several occasions before their mental health problems are addressed.

From the patient's perspective, it can take time to build a trusted relationship and gain the confidence needed to describe other matters and mental health worries. Often a physical concern will be a symptom of a mental health worry, while 'medically unexplained symptoms' – where physical and mental health concerns are often intertwined – account for 15-30 per cent of new GP appointments and 45 per cent of overall appointment time¹⁷.

Getting the balance right between physical and mental health, especially when these are closely intertwined, can also be difficult. During our research, many people told us that they felt their physical health had been overlooked in favour of their mental health, while others with long-term physical health conditions reported that they were not getting adequate mental health support.



Effective primary care from a GP practice will often be delivered by a range of professionals from different disciplines who work together with the patient to identify what support they might need. When working well, primary care promotes a genuine relationship of shared decision-making, built on trust between the professional and the individual person. Effective care from a GP practice successfully coordinates a person's care across different teams and services and helps them navigate the wider health system. But many people don't receive such well-coordinated care, nor do they see different professionals working in a collaborative way to support them.

I went about physical symptoms but the GP could tell that I was actually very stressed and highly anxious. They asked me the appropriate questions and highlighted that my mental health was the underlying issue leading to the physical symptoms.

Having both a mental health and physical health condition can often mean someone with a higher level of need will need to use services more frequently with regular primary care contact. We know that 46 per cent of people with mental health problems also have long-term physical conditions and people with mental health problems can receive poorer physical health care¹⁸. It is therefore unsurprising that people with mental health problems are also three times more likely to attend A&E with an urgent physical health need and almost five times more likely to be admitted as an emergency¹⁹.

There is an important role for GP practices in helping people to make sense of both their physical and mental health needs and to find treatments and solutions which work for them. People told us they wanted staff to have a better understanding of the psychosocial causes of mental health problems, as well as the symptoms, particularly for people with complex needs²⁰. High quality primary care services in the community can ensure people's physical and mental health problems are treated holistically, preventing someone's health deteriorating and developing the need for secondary care services.

Treatment choice

The most common support GPs offer people with mental health problems is medication²¹ even though this may not be the most appropriate option. Under time and workload pressures, with limited availability of services to which they feel they can refer patients and a short window to have a conversation about treatment options, GPs may feel they have no alternative. While medication has an important role in many people's lives, for many common mental health problems it shouldn't be the first option, nor the only option, given to someone²². Alternatives to medication should be available and, when prescribed, the side effects should be clearly explained. Ongoing monitoring of any side effects on both physical and mental health should also be planned for.

During the public engagement exercise undertaken by the Mental Health Taskforce, people highlighted the importance of staff having the skills to work collaboratively with patients to identify goals and plan care, as well as to involve carers appropriately and meaningfully²³. Alternatives to medication, such as psychological therapies, should be made available to every person presenting with a mental health problem. Exercise, healthy eating and forms of social prescribing such as peer support and outdoor activity all have an important role in providing choice of treatment away from traditional medication.

Given the difficulties in even having a conversation about a mental health problem, the subsequent response and sensitivity of GP practice staff is crucial in building trust with people.

I didn't feel that my GP really cared about what I was sharing with her, which was upsetting because it was tough to ask for help. I also felt that she didn't explain why she prescribed me medication on my first visit or how it worked, which left me feeling scared and uneasy.

Some medical professionals tend to write you off... once you admit to having mental health issues. They no longer take your physical health as seriously.

Supporting diverse communities

Barriers and poor experiences of GP practice care are regularly highlighted by people with mental health problems and a negative first experience can make it even more difficult when seeking help again. For certain communities, accessing a GP service is even more challenging because of lower levels of GP registrations, and a lack of information on how to access services appropriately²⁴.

While there are many groups who are at higher risk of developing mental health problems, some face additional barriers to accessing this essential primary care mental health support. For example, in some Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) communities, higher levels of stigma around mental health problems may prevent people from seeking help. The recent Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Study highlighted the variation in access to treatments among different ethnic groups, with adults from Black communities most likely to receive no treatment at all for a mental health problem²⁵.

In other communities, mental health is not seen as primarily a health issue, and so people may seek support through non-health networks of support. Other groups of people, such as homeless people, refugees and asylum seekers or young men, are simply less likely to be registered with a GP. As a result, people from these groups are more likely to come into contact with services only when they reach a crisis, by which time the impact on their lives is more damaging and the treatment options more restrictive.

These are just some of the challenges people working in primary care have to overcome. That's why ensuring staff are properly equipped to spot mental health problems and know how best to manage people who are struggling with their mental health is vital. The first place to start is with the primary care workforce's own mental health and wellbeing.

The policy context

In its Five Year Forward View for England (2015)²⁶, the NHS set out to radically shift the emphasis of the health service towards giving people greater control over their care, developing innovative ways to deliver care to people in their own communities, and better integrating primary and secondary care services.

To complement this vision, the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health²⁷ set out how these changes can support improved mental health care in England. It identified the importance of the role of primary care in ensuring people with poor physical health get access to prevention and screening for mental health problems in primary care. It also highlighted the need to ensure all GPs in England receive core mental health training as well as the development of a new extended Scope of Practice in Mental Health for GPs.

Alongside these plans, NHS England has also set out its vision for improving primary care in its General Practice Forward View²⁸. This plan highlighted the need for both investment and reform to meet the challenges faced by primary care, particularly the need to give GPs the resources and flexibility to spend more time with people who might need a greater level of support.

In Wales, the Government has set out its vision for improving mental health services in its Together for Mental Health strategy²⁹. The strategy prioritises early intervention and moving more resources into primary care, as well as investing in the development of the primary care workforce.

The Mental Health (Wales) Measure (2010) also emphasises the importance of primary care and established Local Primary Mental Health Support Services (LPMHSS), located with and alongside GP surgeries³⁰. The Measure sought to improve and expand primary care services by providing assessment and treatment options for people experiencing mental health problems. LPMHSS are also able to refer to secondary mental health services where appropriate, as well as signpost individuals and their carers to other sources of support, such as third sector services. Post legislative scrutiny of the Mental Health Measure found that "the knowledge and understanding of general practitioners and primary care staff in mental health is improving but requires further work"³¹.

The Welsh Government's Programme for Government³² published in September 2016 contains a commitment to "invest in training NHS staff and create a single body to commission and provide training and education for all healthcare professionals, especially the primary care workforce, to support the work of GPs".



Supporting the mental health of primary care staff

We all need to look after our mental health, and that includes GPs, practice nurses and their colleagues. Not only is it important for their own health, but primary care staff being well and being supported means they can provide the best care for their patients. The NHS has undergone significant changes in recent years and increasing demand is stretching services and putting more pressure on its workforce³³. Primary care services are under particular strain and we know that compared to many other groups, those working in primary care are experiencing particularly high levels of stress which is impacting on their mental health³⁴.

Mind surveyed over 1,000 primary care staff in England and Wales including GPs, practice nurses, practice managers, receptionists and pharmacists. Our results³⁵ found that:



Most people experiencing a mental health problem manage their condition well, maintain their employment and perform their role to a high standard. But as for all of us, an important part of managing a mental health problem is being able to seek support when it is needed. Stigma and self-stigma – in particular worries about career repercussions or even being found not fit to practise – is a major barrier to primary care professionals seeking help. Our survey of staff found that almost one in three people working in primary care feel disclosing stress to their manager would lead them to being perceived as less capable than other colleagues³⁶.

A reluctance to seek support can lead to someone's mental health problem becoming worse. When staff are feeling under pressure and their wellbeing is neglected, their mental health is likely to deteriorate with a potential impact on the quality of care they are able to provide to their patients.

In order to provide the best care for their patients, primary care staff should be able to work in an environment where they can talk openly about their mental health, and feel confident that when they do, they'll receive the support they need. The Mental Health Taskforce in England has called for the NHS to support and monitor the mental health of its staff and every trust to provide effective occupational health services³⁷. Alongside this, NHS England is establishing a national service to improve GPs' access to mental health support in 2017. As part of NHS England's plan to retain and promote a healthy workforce, it has already committed resources over the next four years to funding the implementation of the General Practice Resilience Programme, as set out by the GP Five Year Forward View³⁸. The programme aims to alleviate some of the pressure on GPs by providing local practices with local resilience teams or pools of experienced practice staff, to help with practice management, recruitment issues, and capacity³⁹.

In April 2016, the Welsh Government announced they were investing £200,000 to expand occupational health support services to all GPs in Wales as part of a wider review of how Occupation Health services are delivered⁴⁰. This service does not yet extend to all practice staff, however we support the Royal College of General Practitioners' (RCGP) call to ensure all practice staff in Wales have access to this support. While we're pleased that ambitions to support GPs have been set out in both England and Wales, we think there's still much more to be done. In both countries support should extend to the wider GP practice and primary care workforce, not just GPs.

I couldn't stop crying and I thought: I can't do this, I'm not strong enough to do this. I felt that I had failed.

Dr Zoe Norris

Case study: Time to Change Mental Health Pilot Project⁴¹

In February 2015, Time to Change launched a new project to tackle stigma within mental health services. Working with two partner trusts, 2gether NHS Foundation Trust and Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust, they ran a year-long project aimed at making staff feel

more confident about disclosing their own experience of mental health problems.

The project was designed and delivered in partnership with a team of mental health professionals and people who use mental health services. Within the trusts, 220 staff took part in facilitated workshops that encouraged an open dialogue about mental health at work.

The project increased the confidence of staff in speaking about their own mental health to colleagues and peers. After attending workshops, there was a 9 per cent increase in staff feeling that people reporting stigma had valid concerns.

We recommend:

NHS England, Clinical Commissioning Groups in England and Local Health Boards in Wales should ensure that all primary care staff are able to access effective occupational health services and mental health support

NHS England's plan to establish a national service to improve GP's access to mental health support should be extended to ensure that all primary care staff – including practice managers and receptionists – can also access support. Likewise, in Wales, the Government's plan to invest in occupational health support services for GPs should be extended to provide support to all primary care staff

There is that fear that if you talk about your mental health then that will somehow get in to your health records, and in to your professional record as well.

Improving mental health training for GP practice staff

Existing training requirements

Equipping GP practice staff to perform their roles effectively is key to improving primary mental health care. The workforce is the heart of our healthcare system and communities are dependent on their expertise and compassion. GPs, in particular, are expected to have knowledge that spans the breadth of physical and mental health so that they can respond to the needs of whoever comes through the surgery door. There is no doubting it is a difficult and demanding role.

However, people with mental health problems seeking support have told us that while some received an excellent and empathetic response from GP practice staff, too many feel staff lacked sufficient understanding of mental health or of the treatments and support that would be helpful to them. Many people also reported that staff didn't seem to have the skills to support them if they were struggling to articulate their mental health problem. An ability to empathise and understand the difficulties faced by someone struggling with their mental health was repeatedly raised as important by people with mental health problems. We know someone's first experience of talking to a professional about their mental health can be critical, with a less sympathetic response making it less likely someone will turn to health services when they need mental health support in the future.

Although we know that approximately a third of GP consultations have a mental health element⁴², GPs' initial training on mental health is surprisingly limited. Medical students who wish to become a GP undertake the three year Speciality Training for General Practice (following a three year medical degree and a two year Foundation Programme). As well as undertaking a series of compulsory clinical modules, GP Speciality Trainees will also undertake three rotations in hospital specialities totalling around 18 months of training, before 18 months posting as a GP Speciality Registrar in a general practice. Rotations offer GPs practical experience and insight into other parts of the health system. With the increasing shift away from treating people in acute hospital settings towards more community-based provision, ensuring GPs are able to develop this practical experience of these settings will become ever more important.

Clinical modules

All GP Speciality Trainees are required to complete the 'Care for people with mental health problems' clinical module during their training. This is the only module out of the 21 compulsory clinical modules that is dedicated to mental health⁴³.

Hospital speciality rotations

As part of Speciality Training for General Practice, trainee GPs also undertake 18 months as a Specialty Registrar in a range of 'rotations' in hospital specialties. Typically, this will involve three rotations of six months. Among these options, psychiatry is the only available mental health rotation, with the setting often hospitalbased and certainly in secondary care. While a rotation in psychiatry is undoubtedly useful for GPs there are other settings, such as local IAPT services and voluntary sector mental health services, which would give GPs insight into the services where a larger number of their patients will receive treatment.

18 months as GP Speciality Registrar

A trainee will also spend 18 months as a GP Specialty Registrar in general practice. While some trainee GPs will have an excellent mental health experience during this rotation, others will not – much of this will depend on the existing approach and attitude to mental health within the practice and that of staff already qualified and practising. This low level of formal prequalification training in mental health is not only an issue for GPs, but also practice nurses working in general practices. Practice nurses provide health care to people which can be delivered without direct GP involvement and can include: health screening, administering routine intravenous mental health medication or taking blood samples, supporting people to lead healthy lifestyles, and referring on to available local psychosocial support.

They may also, of course, be the key contact for many people with long-term physical health conditions who may struggle to cope emotionally. This means that they will regularly see people with mental health problems. A 2014 survey of practice nurses found that 82 per cent have responsibilities for aspects of mental health and wellbeing for which they have had no training⁴⁴.

More training needs to be given to GPs so they understand what it's like to be mentally ill.

Our research

In order to find out how many GP trainees were gaining practical experience of mental health services, we submitted Freedom of Information (FOI) requests to Health Education England and the Welsh Deanery. We asked each what proportion of GP Speciality Trainees (GPSTs) undertook a rotation in psychiatry between 2013 and 2015. Responses showed significant variation in numbers of GPSTs undertaking training in a mental health setting, with an average of less than half choosing a rotation in psychiatry. None of the local teams offered an alternative mental health setting to psychiatry as part of the three year GP traineeship.

I couldn't actually bring myself to speak at the time. I think I walked into the GPs office crying and handed her a list of my symptoms. It was such a relief that she could do something to help and understood. I hadn't ever told anyone up to that point.

Local Team	2013	2014	2015
Kent, Surrey and Sussex	75%	71%	72%
East Midlands	54%	63%	68%
North, Central and East London	59%	56%	57%
North West London			
South London			
North East	48%	42%	47%
East of England	46%	44%	45%
Wales	46%	45%	45%
West Midlands	45%	46%	39%
South West	34%	34%	35%
Yorkshire and Humber	36%	33%	32%
North West	34%	31%	31%
Thames Valley	36%	36% 36%	31%
Wessex			

The findings highlight that with limited choice on offer and without any obligation to develop practical experience within a mental health setting, most GPs enter practice with a low level of formal training and limited practical experience of mental health services. We believe all GPSTs in England and Wales should undertake a rotation in a mental health setting, and that a wider range of options should be made available to trainees.

"For too long mental health has been considered by some GPs and practice nurses as a specialist subject. This simply isn't the case."

Tooling up and gearing up for mental health in primary care, 2016

The RCGP has previously called for extended GP training (from three to four years) and as part of this they recommended that "GP trainees should undertake placements that provide them with appropriately supervised experience of paediatric problems and mental health problems⁴⁵". While the RCGP educational case was approved and had gained support from Medical Education England⁴⁶, the Chief Medical Officer⁴⁷, and others, financial restraints and a GP recruitment crisis has led to the campaign faltering⁴⁸.

We strongly support this proposal but until it is introduced we would like to see immediate progress towards ensuring GP trainees undertake a mental health rotation within current course length. Health Education England and the Welsh Deanery should ensure every GPST is able to undertake a rotation in a mental health setting by extending the options available to trainees to include alternatives to psychiatry such as IAPT and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS).

We recommend:

Health Education England and the Welsh Deanery should ensure every GP Speciality Trainee is able to undertake a rotation in a mental health setting

.....

Currently, the only option for trainee GPs to gain practical experience of mental health services is likely to be hospital-based or secondary care focused. While important, this experience won't reflect the kinds of treatment that most people with a mental health problem are likely to need. In order to ensure that every GP Speciality Trainee gains practical experience in a mental health setting, Health Education England and the Welsh Deanery must ensure that trainees are able to undertake a rotation in alternative community based mental health settings – for example Improving Access to Psychological Therapies services (IAPT) – as part of their pre-qualification training.

Continuing professional development for GPs and practice nurses

As well as ensuring that new GPs have sufficient training and understanding of mental health, we also need to ensure that the existing workforce is suitably equipped to support people with mental health problems. Increasing the mental health focus of the ongoing professional development for GPs and practice nurses is therefore just as important.

Currently practising GPs and practice nurses are required by the General Medical Council (GMC) and Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC) respectively to maintain their learning and training portfolio by acquiring a set number of Continued Professional Development (CPD) credits (for GPs) and hours (for nurses) to count towards revalidation.

Revalidation is the process by which GPs demonstrate they are up-to-date and fit to practise⁴⁹. GPs are expected to submit annual appraisals which include demonstrating a portfolio of their learning every year. Each GP's appraiser will then make a recommendation to the GMC based on satisfactory levels of CPD credits attained. While the GMC does not require GPs to have a specific number of credits, the RCGP recommends that a GP demonstrate at least 50 CPD credits per annum on average⁵⁹.

From April 2016, all nurses, including practice nurses, will also have to undertake revalidation every three years. This will require undertaking 35 hours of CPD activities of which 20 must be participatory⁵¹.

With a third of all GP appointments being related to mental health and ninety per cent of people with mental health problems relying on primary care services for their care, ongoing professional development is one way that the inadequate pre-qualification training for practice staff can be addressed. All GPs and practice nurses should undertake CPD activity with a mental health focus every year. The GMC and NMC should take a lead in specifying how much time GPs and nurses should spend developing their mental health knowledge. It is vital all GP practice staff receive the appropriate level of training to support people with mental health problems. For instance, people experiencing a mental health crisis can often seek support at their local GP practice. Making suicide prevention training a core part of existing first aid training for all practice staff would help equip frontline staff – including receptionists – to respond safely and effectively when someone is at their most vulnerable.



Tooling Up and Gearing Up for Mental Health in Primary Care

London Clinical Networks recently published a new framework for mental health training in primary care. Tooling Up and Gearing Up for Mental Health in Primary Care sets out the training needs for primary care and emphasises the relevance of mental health training to all staff. Its tiered approach identifies the level of mental health training required depending on their likely interaction with people with mental health problems⁵².



Tier 1 – Education and training components relevant to everyone who may, as part of their day-to-day work, come into contact with a person with a mental health problem

We recommend:

The General Medical Council should specify a set proportion of annual CPD credits for GPs to undertake which have a mental health focus

Ensuring that GPs maintain an up-to-date understanding of mental health is vital. Within current continuing professional development programmes, it remains optional. The GMC should take a lead and specify a set proportion of annual CPD credits for GPs to undertake which have a mental health focus and reflect the need to achieve parity of esteem between physical and mental health. At Mind, we would welcome the opportunity to support the development of this recommendation.

The Nursing and Midwifery Council should specify a set number of training hours that practice nurses should spend with a focus on supporting people with mental health problems

Like GPs, practice nurses play an important role in supporting people with mental health problems and should maintain an up-to-date knowledge of mental health. The NMC should take a lead and specify a set number of training hours that practice nurses spend with a focus on supporting people with mental health problems, and reflect the need to achieve parity of esteem between physical and mental health. GP practices should allocate sufficient funding to support protected training time for all staff

All GP practice staff - including practice nurses and non-clinical staff such as practice managers and receptionists - need to be encouraged and supported to develop and learn in their roles so that they have the confidence and competence to support people with mental health problems. This means setting aside sufficient funding for high quality training. It also means budgeting for staff to have protected time away from their daily work pressures to fully engage in learning. NHS England, Clinical Commissioning Groups in England and Local Health Boards in Wales should include requirements for staff training on mental health within commissioning agreements for primary care services

Local commissioners in England and Wales have a responsibility to ensure that the services they commission meet the needs of their communities. When commissioning primary care services this should include ensuring that services support the continued professional development of their workforce, and that all staff receive the appropriate level of training to support people with mental health problems. such as suicide prevention training for frontline staff.

Conclusion

When primary mental health care works well, people feel confident talking to their GP about their mental health. People have the time to discuss their concerns, feel involved in decisions about their care and are offered choices when it comes to their treatment.

Good GP practices offer welcoming and sensitive environments to people with mental health problems, including staff working in the practice.

But too often GP practices are unable to provide this kind of care. The consequences are then felt by people with mental health problems who do not get the high quality support they deserve to stay well.

We know that getting primary mental health care right can be transformative for our communities. By better equipping GPs and practice nurses to provide this care – through improved training and by supporting their own mental health – there will be a positive impact not only on primary care but across the entire health system in England and Wales.



Endnotes

- ¹ The Health & Social Care Information Centre, 2009, Adult psychiatric morbidity in England, Results of a household survey.
- ² Gask, L., Lester, H., Kendrick, T., Peveler, R. (Eds.) (2009). Primary Care Mental Health. RCPsych Publications.
- ³ London Strategic Clinical Network for Mental Health. (2014). A commissioner's guide to primary care mental health: <u>www.slcsn.nhs.uk</u>
- ⁴ McManus, S., et al (2009). Adult psychiatric morbidity in England, 2007: results of a household survey. Leeds: NHS Information Centre for Health and Social Care
- ⁵ London Strategic Clinical Network for Mental Health (2014). A commissioner's guide to primary care mental health <u>www.slcsn.nhs.uk</u>
- ⁶ Citizens Advice (2015). A very general practice: How much time do GPs spend on issues other than health? <u>citizensadvice.org.uk</u>
- ⁷ NHS Digital (2016) Prescription Cost Analysis, England, 2015. <u>http://content.digital.nhs.uk</u>
- ⁸ Naylor, C., et al. (2012. Long-term conditions and mental health: the cost of co-morbidities. The King's Fund and the Centre for Mental Health. <u>www.centreformentalhealth.</u> <u>org.uk/long-term-conditions</u>
- ⁹ Forum for Mental Health in Primary Care (RCGP and RCPsych) (2011). Guidance for health professionals on medically unexplained symptoms (MUS). <u>www.rcpsych.ac.uk</u>
- ¹⁰ Welsh Government (2015). Welsh Health Survey. <u>http://gov.wales</u>
- ¹¹ Mental Health and Wellbeing in England Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014 (2016) <u>http://content.digital.nhs.uk</u>
- ¹² Time to Change <u>www.time-to-change.org.uk</u>

- ¹³ Mind and UCL (2011) ProCEED: Report of a study of proactive care by practice nurses for people with depression and anxiety
- ¹⁴ Cancer Research UK / Moffat, J et al. "Identifying anticipated barriers to help-seeking to promote earlier access of cancer in Great Britain, Journal of Public Health (2016)
- ¹⁵ RCGP report Royal College of General Practitioners (2016): Responding to the needs of patients with multimorbidity
- ¹⁵ Citizens Advice (2015). A very general practice: How much time do GPs spend on issues other than health? Available from <u>citizensadvice.org.uk</u>
- ¹⁷ Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health (2015). Guidance for commissioners of services for people with medically unexplained symptoms
- ¹⁸ The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ¹⁹ The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ²⁰ NHS Five Year Forward View Mental health taskforce: public engagement report (2015) <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ²¹ Mental Health and Wellbeing in England Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014 (2016) http://content.digital.nhs.uk
- ²² See NICE Clinical Guidelines <u>www.nice.org.uk</u>
- ²³ NHS Five Year Forward View Mental health taskforce: public engagement report (2015) <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ²⁴ Mind, We Still Need to Talk (2013) <u>mind.org.uk</u>
- ²⁵ Mental Health and Wellbeing in England Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014 (2016) <u>http://content.digital.nhs.uk</u>

- ²⁶ NHS Five Year Forward View (2014) <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ²⁷ NHS England Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016) <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ²⁸ NHS England GP Practice Forward View (2016) <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ²⁹ Welsh Government Our plan for a primary care service for Wales up to March 2018 (2015) <u>http://gov.wales/</u>
- ³⁰ Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010 (2010) <u>www.legislation.gov.uk</u>
- ³¹ Welsh Government A Planned Primary Care Workforce for Wales Approach and development actions to be taken in support of the plan for a primary care service in Wales up to 2018 (2015) <u>http://gov.wales/</u>
- ³² Welsh Government Taking Wales Forward 2016-2021 (2016) <u>http://gov.wales/</u>
- ³³ NHS Five Year Forward View Mental health taskforce: public engagement report (2015) <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ³⁴ Mind Workplace Wellbeing Survey of Primary Care Professionals (July 2016)
- ³⁵ Mind Workplace Wellbeing Survey of Primary Care Professionals (July 2016)
- ³⁶ Mind Workplace Wellbeing Survey of Primary Care Professionals (July 2016)
- ³⁷ The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ³⁸ NHS England GP Practice Forward View (2016) <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ³⁹ NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2017-2019 (2016) <u>www.england.nhs.uk</u>
- ⁴⁰ NHS Wales Press Release (April 2016) <u>www.wales.nhs.uk</u>

- ⁴¹ Time to Change (2015) Better experiences. Better Outcomes. Tackling stigma together. Time to Change Mental Health Professionals Pilot Project <u>time-to-change.org.uk</u>
- ⁴² London Strategic Clinical Network for Mental Health. (2014). A commissioner's guide to primary care mental health: <u>www.slcsn.nhs.uk</u>
- ⁴³ RCGP (2016) The RCGP Curriculum: Professional and Clinical Modules: <u>www.rcgp.org.uk</u>
- ⁴⁴ Hardy, S., (2014). Mental health and wellbeing survey: A snapshot of practice nurses' views regarding responsibility and training: <u>www.cwmt.org.uk</u>
- ⁴⁵ RCGP (2012) Extended GP Training – Frequently Asked Questions: <u>www.rcgp.org.uk</u>
- ⁴⁶ RCGP (2013) Enhanced and Extended GP Training Progress Update: April 2013: <u>www.rcgp.org.uk</u>
- ⁴⁷ Davies S. (2014) Public mental health priorities: investing in the evidence (annual report of the chief medical officer 2013). Department of Health: <u>www.gov.uk</u>
- ⁴⁸ Riley, B and Howe, A (2015) Pushing for victory: where next for 4-year GP training? British Journal of General Practice: <u>http://bjap.ora/</u>
- ⁴⁹ The Principle of GP Appraisal for Revalidation (2014) <u>www.rcgp.org.uk</u>
- ⁵⁰ The Principle of GP Appraisal for Revalidation (2014) <u>www.rcgp.org.uk</u>
- ⁵¹ Royal College of Nursing RCN: <u>http://revalidation.nmc.org.uk</u>
- ⁵² Primary care mental health education and training framework, Tooling up and gearing up mental health in primary care (2016), pg 13, NHS London Clinical Networks, <u>www.londonscn.nhs.uk</u>

If you'd like to find out more about mental health support in primary care, contact:

Rezina Hakim Mind Policy and Campaigns team primarycare@mind.org.uk

Mind 15-19 Broadway Stratford London E15 4BQ

020 8519 2122 contact@mind.org.uk mind.org.uk/findthewords

t @MindCharity f mindforbettermentalhealth in Follow us on LinkedIn

Mind is a registered charity No. 219830

